UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
for the Fifth Crcuit

No. 92-1928

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS

MARY ELI ZABETH FORSYTHE and R P. H.
CONSULTI NG INC., d/b/a The Apot hecary,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Northern District of Texas
(3:91-CR-414-Q

(February 23, 1994)

Bef ore H GG NBOTHAM and DUHE, Circuit Judges, and LI TTLE, District
Judge.?

DUHE, Circuit Judge: 2
BACKGROUND
The United States Departnent of Health extended grant noney to
i ndi vi dual states to provide azi dot hym di ne ("AZT") to i ndi gent and
uni nsured AIDS patients. After receiving the grant noney, the
Texas Departnment of Health ("TDH') contracted with drug conpanies

and pharnmaci es. The drug conpani es provided AZT wi t hout charge to

' District Judge of the Western District of Louisiana,
sitting by designation.

2 Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases
on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



pharmaci es, which in turn dispensed the AZT to qualified AIDS
patients for a nomnal admnistration fee.® TDH reinbursed the
drug conpani es fromfederal grant funds for the AZT provided to the
partici pating pharnacies.

In March 1988, R H P. Consulting, Inc. d/b/a/ The Apothecary
("The Apothecary"), a small <clinic owned by Mary Elizabeth
Forsythe, contracted with TDH to serve as one of the participating
phar maci es. As a result of conplaints received about The
Apot hecary's dispensation of AZT, the governnent began an
i nvestigation in Novenber 1989. The investigation reveal ed that
The Apot hecary profited by selling state provided AZT to i neligible
patients rather than dispensing it free of cost to indigent
patients.

In Decenber 1991, a grand jury indicted Forsythe and The
Apot hecary (collectively referred to as "Appellants") for
conspiracy (Count 1), wre fraud (Counts 2 through 6), mail fraud
(Counts 7 through 12), theft of federal program funds (Count 13),
procurenent fraud (Count 14), and theft of governnent property
(Count 15). Appel l ants defended that they had unintentionally
m smanaged the program and did not intend to defraud anyone. The
jury found Appellants guilty on all counts. Appel | ants appea

their convictions and sentences.

3 Appellants waived this fee.
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DI SCUSSI ON
|. Sufficiency of the Evidence
Appel lants contend that the evidence was insufficient to
support their convictions wunder all of +the counts in the
indictnment. The standard of reviewis whether any reasonable trier
of fact could have found that the evidence established guilt beyond

a reasonabl e doubt. United States v. Hernandez-Pal aci os, 838 F. 2d

1346, 1348 (5th Gr. 1988) (citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S

307, 319 (1979)). In making this determ nation, we "nust consider
the evidence in the Iight nost favorable to the governnent, giving
the governnment the benefit of all reasonable inferences and

credibility choices.” 1d. (citing dasser v. United States, 315

US 60, 80 (1942)). W wll not review the evidence here. But
after a careful review of the record, we conclude that, viewed in
the light nost favorable to the governnent, the evidence
sufficiently supported all of the convictions.
. Conviction Under Both § 666 and § 641

The jury convicted Appellants under both 18 U S.C. § 666,
theft of federal program funds (Count 13), and 18 U S. C. § 641
theft of governnent property (Count 15). Appellants contend that
both convictions cannot stand because a defendant can only be
convi cted under the nore specific statute when both a specific and
a general statute apply. In support of their contention,

Appellants cite Sinpson v. United States, 435 U. S. 6 (1978), and

Busic v. United States, 446 U S. 398 (1980). Contrary to

Appel l ant's assertions, Sinpson and Busic do not stand for that



general proposition. See United States v. G bson, 820 F.2d 692,

695-96 (5th Cir. 1987).

Sinpson and Busic addressed whether Congress intended for
courts to apply the sentence enhancenent of 18 U . S.C. 8§ 924(c) for
use of afirearmduring a felony to statutes that already contai ned
enhancenent provisions for use of a firearm After studying the
| egi slative history of 8 924(c), the Court in Sinpson and Busic
concl uded that the general enhancenent could not be applied wth
t he nore specific enhancenents.* Here Appellants point to nothing
in the legislative history suggesting that Congress did not intend
for a defendant to be convicted under both § 666 and § 641.

Furthernore, the test for determ ni ng whether one transaction
provi des the basis for convictions under two different statutes is
"whet her each provision requires proof of an additional fact which

the other does not." Blockburger v. United States, 284 U S. 299,

304 (1932). Section 666 requires that over $10,000 be received
under the federal programin any one year, and that the property
enbezzl ed or stolen be worth $5,000 or nore. Conversely, 8§ 641
requires that the crinme involve property of the United States, or
a departnent, or agency thereof. Each provision requires proof of

facts independent of the other.

4 Congress anended § 924(c) in 1984 to overrul e the Supremne
Court's statutory interpretation. See S. Rep. No. 225, 98th Cong.,
2d Sess. 312-14 (1983), reprinted in 1984 U.S.C. C A N 3182, 3490-
92.



I11. Evidentiary Ruling

Next, Appellants argue that the district court erred in
admtting the testinony of governnment rebuttal w tnesses, Gay
Dot son and Maria Testori. Dotson, Director of Conpliance for the
Texas State Board of Pharmacy, testified about conplaints of fraud
| odged against The Apothecary in 1989 and that she notified
Appel l ants of the conplaints. Testori, an HMO auditor, testified
that she conducted an audit of the Apothecary in 1989 as a result
of its unusual ly high AZT di spensation rate. Additionally, Testori
testified about di screpancies that she di scovered during the audit.
Appel lants claimthat the testinonies were evidence of extrinsic
acts admtted in contravention of Rule 404(b).°

The governnent responds that Rule 404(b) does not apply
because the testinonies were not extrinsic evidence. The
gover nnment contends that the testinonies were offered to rebut the
def ense that Appellants unintentionally m smanaged t he AZT program
and that they took corrective neasures when the m stakes were
di scovered. The governnent alleges that the conplaints and audit
were the catalyst for the corrective neasures and that Appellants
instituted the corrective nmeasures to conceal their fraud.

We examine a district court's ruling on the admssibility of

evi dence for abuse of discretion. United States v. Shaw 920 F.2d

5> Fed. R Evid. 404(b), provides that "[e]vidence of other
crinmes, wongs, or acts is not adm ssible to prove the character of
a person in order to show action in conformty therewith. It may,
however, be adm ssi bl e for other purposes, such as proof of notive,
opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, know edge, identity, or
absence of m stake or accident "



1225, 1229 (5th Gir.), cert. denied, 111 S. C. 2038 (1991).

"Evidence that is "inextricably intertw ned" with the evidence used
to prove a crine charged is not 'extrinsic' evidence under Rule

404(b)." United States v. Royal, 972 F. 2d 643, 647 (5th Gr. 1992)

(quoting United States v. Randall, 887 F.2d 1262, 1268 (5th Cr.

1989)), cert. denied, 113 S. C. 1258 (1993). "Such evidence is

considered 'intrinsic' and is admssible 'so that the jury may
eval uate all the circunstances under which the defendant acted.'"
Id. The conplaints of fraud and the results of the fraud audit
were inextricably intertwwned with the offenses contained in the
indictnment and directly probative of intent. Accordingly, we find
no abuse of discretion in the adm ssion of this evidence.
V. Pre-indictnent Delay

Appel lants claimthat the governnent's delay in securing the
indictrment® violated their due process rights. They contend that
the district court erred in denying their notion to dismss for
pre-indi ctnment delay. To prevail Appellants nust showthat (1) the

prosecutor intentionally delayed indicting themto gain a tacti cal

advant age and (2) they incurred actual prejudice as aresult of the

del ay. United States v. Amuny, 767 F.2d 1113, 1119 (5th Cr.
1985). Appellants have not sustained their burden on either of the
el enent s. Therefore, the district court properly denied

Appel  ant's noti on.

6 The crimnal investigation began in Novenber 1989, and the
i ndictnment was filed in Decenber 1991.
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V. Acceptance of Responsibility
Forsythe argues that the district court erred by refusing to
give her credit for acceptance of responsibility, pursuant to
US S G 8 3EL.1. "The sentencing judge's factual determ nations
on acceptance of responsibility are entitled to even greater
def erence than t hat accorded under the clearly erroneous standard."

United States v. Maseratti, 1 F.3d 330, 341 (5th Cr. 1993). W

W Il uphold the district court's decision unless it is "wthout
foundation." United States v. Garcia, 917 F.2d 1370, 1377 (5th
Cr. 1990).

The application notes to the sentencing guidelines explain
that credit for acceptance of responsibility "is not intended to
apply to a def endant who puts the governnent to its burden of proof
at trial by denying the essential factual elenents of guilt, is
convicted, and only then admts guilt and expresses renorse."
US SG 83ElL.1 n. 2. Areduction may be allowed followng trial
if the trial was for the purpose of testing the constitutionality
of a statute or its applicability to the conduct at issue. |d.
This case went to trial because Forsythe denied that she intended
to coonmt fraud. And she continued to deny crimnal intent unti
the sentencing hearing. Thus, the district court's refusal to
grant the reduction was not w thout foundation.

VI. VictimlLoss

The presentence report ("PSR') conputed Forsythe's offense

| evel using a victimloss anount of nore than $800, 000 but not nore

t han $1, 500, 000. See U.S.S.G 8§ 2F1.1(b)(1). This | oss amunt was



based on the following: (1) a loss to the government of $615, 995;°
and (2) a loss to individuals or insurance conpani es who purchased
state AZT of $851,616.8 |In her objections to the PSR Forsythe
argued that the loss to the governnent was |ess than $400, 000.°
Forsythe al so argued that the I oss to the individuals and i nsurance
conpani es was zero because they woul d have paid the sane prices for
the AZT regardless of her crinme. At the sentencing hearing, the
district court adopted the findings of the PSR except wth respect
to the governnent's | oss. The court reduced the governnent's | oss
from $615, 995 to $581, 702.1° The court al so ordered Appellants to
make restitution of $581, 702, jointly and severally.

First, Appellants contend that the district court erred by
denying their request for an evidentiary hearing regarding the | oss
incurred by the governnent. The decision to grant or deny an
evidentiary hearing is within the district court's discretion.

United States v. Mieller, 902 F.2d 336, 347 (5th Gr. 1990). The

" The PSR concluded that The Apot hecary di spensed 408, 648
capsules of program AZT to ineligible patients and that the
governnent paid $615,995 for these capsul es.

8 The PSR determined that The Apothecary sold 369, 050
capsul es of state AZT to patients who paid cash or who requested
that The Apothecary bill their insurance conpanies. Based on an
aver age charge per capsule of $2.31, the total cost to individuals
and i nsurance conpani es was $851, 616.

o She argued that the total inproper dispensations anounted
to only 317,848 capsul es. She al so argued that the average per
capsul e cost to the governnment was $1.19.

10 The judge reduced the nunbers of inmproperly dispensed
capsul es from 408,648 to 385,898. He conputed a per capsul e cost
by dividing $615,995 by 408, 648. See supra note 7. He then
mul tiplied that per capsul e cost by 385, 898 capsul es.



district court deni ed Appel l ant's request reasoning that, given the
evidence already in the record, an evidentiary hearing was not
necessary to resolve the Appellants' objections. Because
Appel l ants have failed to show otherw se, we conclude that the
court did abuse its discretion.

Next, Appellants argue that the district court's cal cul ation
of the governnent's |oss, which was used to determ ne Forsythe's
of fense | evel and Appellant's restitution, was not supported by any
factual basis. If the court erred by reducing the governnent's
| oss, it was harm ess error because it benefitted the Appellants.
Accordingly, we affirm the district court's findings as to the
anount of the governnent's | oss.

Finally, Forsythe contends that there was no loss to the
i ndividuals and insurance conpanies that purchased the state
supplied AZT. W agree that the individuals and insurance
conpanies did not incur a |loss by purchasing state AZT. Although
Forsythe m srepresented the source of the AZT purchased, this
m srepresentation did not result in aloss (actual or intended) to
t he i ndi vi dual s and i nsurance conpani es who woul d have paid for the
drug in any event. W do not, however, agree that the insurance
conpani es suffered zero loss. The record contains evidence that
sone insurance conpanies were double billed for the AZT.
Therefore, the loss to the individuals and insurance conpanies
shoul d be redeterm ned.

W note that the figure in the PSR denom nated loss to

i nsurance conpanies and individuals in fact represents the



Appel l ants' financial gain fromthe fraud. Therefore, the victim
| oss, as redeterm ned on remand, will not reflect the Appellant's
unl awf ul enornous gain. The sentencing guidelines provide that
when the victimloss "does not fully capture the harnful ness and
seriousness of the conduct, an upward departure may be warranted."
US SG 8 2F1.1 n.10; see also U S . S.G 8§ 5K2.0. Because the
victimloss in this case when recalculated may not reflect the
enormty of Appellants' gain, the court may wi sh to consi der upward
departure.
CONCLUSI ON
W vacate both sentences and remand for resentencing.

Convi ctions are affirnmed.

Convi cti ons AFFI RVED. Sent ences VACATED and REMANDED
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